THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Case Nos. 2012-GS-10-40032 and 2012-GS-10-40033

Appellate Case No. 2013-001238

The State, Respondent,

v.

Brett D. Parker, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John S. Nichols
John D. Delgado
BLUESTEIN NICHOLS
THOMPSON & DELGADO
Post Office Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599
(803) 779-8995 (facsimile)
jsnichols@bntdlaw.com
jdelgado@bntdlaw.com

Earnest L. Dessausure
DESSAUSURE LAW FIRM
1928 Barnwell St.
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 771-0042
dessausurelaw@yahoo.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err by refusing Appellant's request to charge regarding circumstantial evidence in this matter in light of the Supreme Court's guidance set forth in *State v. Logan*?

- II. Did the trial court err in failing to restrict the main state expert from offering an opinion outside the qualified area agreed to by Appellant as a result of voir dire of the expert?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a murder case. Brett Parker (Appellant) was indicted for two counts of murder following the shooting death of his wife, Tammy Parker, and a colleague, Bryan Capnerhurst, on April 13, 2012, at the Parkers' home in Richland County. The matter proceeded to trial before the Honorable Deandre Benjamin and a jury in May 2013 and concluded with a verdict of guilty on both counts on May 28th, 2013. Judge Benjamin sentenced Appellant to two consecutive life sentences. Appellant timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal.

FACTS

Law enforcement officers from the Richland County Sheriff's Department responded to a residence at 12 Tackeria Court in the Ascot subdivision in Richland County shortly after 1:00 p.m. on Friday, April 13th, 2012, as a result of a 9-1-1 call from the Appellant. (R. p. 266). Upon arrival at the scene the officers found Appellant outside the residence where he was detained for security purposes. (R. p. 268). Law enforcement investigation soon revealed that the body of his wife, Tammy, and that of Mr. Capnerhurst, an employee in Appellant's illegal bookmaking enterprise, were inside on the second floor of the residence. (R. pp. 305, 309). Tammy was killed by 7 shots from a .9mm Smith & Wesson semi-automatic handgun. (R. p. 1503). Capnerhurst was killed by three shots from a revolver called "The Judge" by its manufacturer Tarus Firearms, loaded with .410 shotgun shells. (R. p. 828, 1509). Richland County Coroner Gary Watts and Richland County Medical Examiner, Dr. Bradley Marcus, went to the Tackeria Ct. location at the request of law enforcement. (R. pp. 599, 1466).

Tammy Parker was a medical sales representative who made as much as \$160,000 a year. (R. p. 259, 1.18). Appellant, an admitted bookmaker, also worked for a durable medical equipment company making about \$40,000 a year. (R. p. 2745, ls. 4-7). Mr. Capnerhurst worked full time with the Lexington County Recreation Commission as his main job, had a second source of income from cleaning the Rec-Commission Office once a week, and then took orders in the Appellant's illegal bookmaking enterprise as another side income. (R. p. 1945).

Appellant was substantially behind in paying Mr. Capnerhurst for his time

assisting in the bookmaking business; Mr. Capnerhurst's claim made to a number of others before April 13th was that the amount due him from Appellant for this accumulated time was \$21,000. (R. p. 1594, l. 12). Appellant claimed in a number of statements to the Richland County Sheriff's Department was that the sum was only about \$6,000.

In an attempt to have this matter resolved Mr. Capnerhurst told several individuals that he had been invited to Appellant's home at Tackeria Ct. on Friday, April 13, 2012. Telephone records show Mr. Capnerhurst received a call from Appellant before 8:00 a.m. on the morning of April 13th. (R. p. 1165, ls. 10-17). Mr. Capnerhurst was excited over being paid what was owed him but he was also apprehensive about the meeting with Appellant and, as a result, told his wife, Cindy Capnerhurst, that if Mr. Capnerhurst did not call her back within an hour after his 12:30 p.m. appointment with Appellant then to call 9-1-1. (R. p. 1947). Appellant told Mr. Capnerhurst, who then told others that same morning of April 13, that Appellant also asked him to bring his gym bag to the meeting. (R. p. 1599, l. 24-1600, l.2). Mr. Capnerhurst believed that the gym bag request by Appellant was made so as to hide the cash that was to be paid him. (R. p. 1600, ls. 1-2).

Appellant stated that Mr. Capnerhurst, pursuant to Appellant's request, came to the Tackeria Ct. home on April 13 around 12:30 p.m. and walked in through the garage door side entrance. An exterior security system with a time stamp video recovered by law enforcement from the residence shows Mr. Capnerhurst driving his car into the parking area of the residence a little after 12:30 p.m., slinging a workout bag over his shoulder and then proceeding to the side or garage door entrance to the home. (R. p. 1142, ls.

7-10). After recognition from Appellant, who was using a downstairs bathroom, Mr. Capnerhurst walked upstairs to the home office occupied by Tammy and shot her with 7 shots from the .9mm Smith & Wesson. (R. p. 2370).

Mr. Capnerhurst was then subsequently shot and killed while trying to rob Appellant who was directed to empty a safe in another room. The safe is also on the second floor but located in a relatively out of the way storage area over the garage. It was a distance from the "office" where Tammy lay dead. Both shootings occurred between 12:30 p.m. and 1:00 p.m.

The defense's theory was that Mr. Capnerhurst, outraged and obsessed by his non payments for a period of several years from Appellant, killed Tammy and then attempted to rob Appellant by forcing him to go to a safe where cash from the bookmaking was kept. Unbeknownst to Mr. Capnerhurst, Appellant had secreted "The Judge" revolver near the safe and he then used it to shoot Mr. Capnerhurst in self-defense. (R. p. 2768, ls. 1-14).

Upon law enforcement's clearing the home they first found Tammy's body in the office area of the home on the second floor and then Mr. Capnerhurst's body in the attic area over the garage where the safe was located. The first two law enforcement officers noted quickly that Mr. Capnerhurst's left hand was grasping the Smith & Wesson .9mm. semi-automatic. (R. p. 309, l. 2-24). The officers shook Mr. Capnerhurst's left hand vigorously three times to dislodge the gun as a matter of officer safety. The defense noted of the over 900 photographs taken by law enforcement at the scene that none were of the gun in Mr. Capnerhurst's left hand; the State said the officers acted reasonably and

professionally in making sure the gun was out of the victim's hand without having to wait to take pictures.

The State opined that because of the number of shots (three different .410 shotgun blasts that each fire several pellets and 3 metal discs) and the type of injuries Mr. Capnerhurst sustained to his left arm, this "grasping" was physically impossible and that Appellant had planted the .9mm in Mr. Capnerhurst's left hand after he was shot and down. Several law enforcement officers and the medical examiner, Dr. Marcus, opined that with the "ping pong ball" size hole in Mr. Capnerhurst's left forearm, it would have been physically impossible for the gun not to have fallen from his grasp. That is, Appellant staged the scene to support his claim of Mr. Capnerhurst's murder of Tammy and attempted armed robbery of himself. (R. p. 231, l.18).

The State further contended that Appellant's request to Mr. Capnerhurst to bring the gym bag was a ruse, not to cover the transfer of back payments in cash but to further Appellant's scheme to place the .9mm ammunition and empty magazine inside the bag after the killings. (R. p. 1143, ls. 3-7). The gym bag ruse was to also cover up who was in actual possession of the Smith & Wesson .9mm at the home: whether this gun that had been given to Appellant as a family heirloom was already in the home on the morning of April 13 or whether Appellant had given Mr. Capnerhurst the gun some months before the shooting and Mr. Capnerhurst brought it to the home hidden in the bag to commit the murders and armed robbery.

Appellant stated that he had given the .9mm Smith & Wesson with the ammunition and a magazine clip to Capnerhurst some months before. (R. p. 2763, ls.

18-19). Appellant and Tammy's fourteen year old daughter, Brooke Parker, testified for the defense that she was present when her father gave the Smith & Wesson to Mr. Capnerhurst at the home office on the second floor. (R. p. 2687, ls. 16-20). The prosecution presented witnesses that Mr. Capnerhurst disliked firearms and had no such gun, and that having the gun would have been common knowledge to his family if true. (R. p. 1978, ls. 4-8; p. 1994, ls. 10-14).

The State's theory was that Appellant was desperate for money and unwilling to leave a loveless marriage. The State asserted Appellant shot Tammy and lured Mr. Capnerhurst to the residence where he then killed Mr. Capnerhurst to cover the dual homicide by claiming self defense because Mr. Capnerhurst had tried to rob him. Appellant was in debt in the total amount of \$181,000 to fellow bookmakers and a private lender. (R. p. 1770, l. 8; p. 1855, l. 20).

Insurance proceeds on Tammy's death, including cash and annuities, to which Appellant would have been personally entitled was \$868, 000. (R. p. 2374, l. 7). Another alleged motive for the killings was sexual; Appellant initially claimed that his marriage was in good shape but he was involved in two sexual relationships wherein he claimed to one of his paramours that he could never leave his wife although he desired to do so. (R. p. 1315).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING APPELLANT'S REQUEST TO CHARGE REGARDING CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THIS MATTER IN LIGHT OF THE SUPREME COURT'S GUIDANCE SET FORTH IN *STATE V. LOGAN*

In this overwhelmingly circumstantial evidence prosecution the trial court erroneously instructed the jury on the law relating to circumstantial evidence when the court omitted the language now required by the supreme court's most recent decision on the issue. Appellant is therefore entitled to a new trial.

A. The Trial Court Had No Dearth of Substantial Circumstantial Evidence to Consider at Either of the Directed Verdict Stages, at the Conclusion of the State's Case in Chief, and after Conclusion of the State's Case in Reply

1. The existence of circumstantial evidence in the trial.

There was a substantial amount of circumstantial evidence at the conclusion of the State's case in chief. See generally (R. pp. 2574-2578). As a result of applying the correct standard of review at this stage pursuant to Rule 19, SCRCrimP, the trial court correctly ruled that considering the nature of circumstantial evidence, and citing *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004), Appellant's motion for a directed verdict must be denied. (R. 2580, l. 21- 2581, l.20).

Defense counsel articulated and argued, at the two Directed Verdict stages, that it was not the absence of circumstantial evidence that warranted judicial focus; rather counsel argued via *State v. Edwards*, 298 S.C. 272, 275, 379 S.E.2d 888, 889 (1989), *cert. denied*, 493 U.S. 895 (1989), that the connection up of all the collateral facts and

circumstances constituting circumstantial evidence did not match up and connect beyond a reasonable doubt thus allowing a jury to reach a guilty verdict: “This case is basically a circumstantial case, Your Honor, and under *State v. Bostick* we know that they have to prove each one of the circumstances connecting him beyond a reasonable doubt, and they can’t do that in this case.” (R. p. 2573, ls. 3-7). Relying on the failure to connect up each of the circumstances of the non-direct evidence counsel argued below: “Your Honor , again, going back to *State v. Bostick*, every single thing that they just stated and listed the litany of it, each one of those witnesses also testified, Your Honor, to a version or to a set of facts that would prove that he is not guilty in this case. Each one of those witnesses did.” (R. p. 2579, ls. 3-9).

2. *State v. Edwards* was the correct conceptual context to charge circumstantial evidence to the jury in this case.

This was the first of many times defense counsel would ask, and argue, that the traditional concept, context and language of *Edwards* should control the court’s instruction for the jury’s consideration of circumstantial evidence. See (R. p. 2964, ls. 5-9 (“I tell you we are going to need a *State v. Edwards*, we will be making a request.”); “I believe we are entitled to it.”); p. 2964, l. 23- p. 2965, l. 6; (“Again, we renew our motion to dismiss this case on the grounds that it is a circumstantial evidence case and that they can’ t prove - - there is not evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that each circumstance that the State is relying upon to convict this man of murder and ask the Court to dismiss it for insufficiency of the evidence based on that”); p. 2987, ls. 18-20 (“Your Honor, we would request that you charge that. That is – I know that *State v.*

Edwards has apparently been --it has been tinkered with, no doubt about that, but we would request it, Your Honor, because I think it is -- it is fair and it is accurate. And I think legally speaking it is a correct statement of the law as it should be or going to be.”); p. 3171, ls. 18-25 (“Mr. Whitlark: May it please the Court, Your Honor? The Court: Yes, sir. Mr. Whitlark: Just the request to charge Number 1, *The State v. Edwards*. The Court: Yes, sir. Mr. Whitlark: I take exception. Thank you, Your Honor.”) and p. 3183, ls. 9-14 (Mr. Whitlark: “I’m sorry, Your Honor, sorry to interrupt you. I do want to put down there that we do want to renew our circumstantial evidence motion pursuant to *The State v. Edwards*. That is talking about a 1989 -- that is 379 S.E.2d 888’ Just to specify that one in particular, Your Honor.”)

In denying the defendant’s Directed Verdict motion at the conclusion of the State’s case in chief, the trial court acknowledged that the case was primarily circumstantial and that the court had in fact already researched the issue. (R. pp. 2580-2581). Relying, however, on *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004) relating to circumstantial evidence consideration at the Rule 19 stage, the court denied the direction of a not guilty verdict in the case; the court implicitly so ruled that under either the *Bostick* or *Edwards* holdings any other decision was improper. (R. p. 2581, ls.18-19).

3. The circumstantial evidence admitted in trial

By the conclusion of all evidence in the trial, including the State’s case in reply, the following key items constituted the sum and substance of the circumstantial evidence presented:

- a- The time of death of Tammy Parker occurred between 12:30 and 1:00 p.m. (R. p. 1509, ls. 5-8)
- b- The Smith & Wesson .9 mm semiautomatic was used to first murder Tammy (See generally R. p. 2243)
- c- The Smith & Wesson .9 mm semiautomatic was then placed in Mr. Capnerhurst's hand by Appellant after shooting him; (R. p. 2201).
- d- The Smith & Wesson .9 mm semiautomatic was placed in Mr. Capnerhurst's hand to underscore Appellant's theory of self defense; (see generally, R. p. 2564)
- e- The Smith & Wesson .9 mm semiautomatic had not been given to Mr. Capnerhurst; rather, the gun was in Appellant's possession in the Tacqeria Ct. home when Mr. Capnerhurst drove up;
- f- Appellant told Mr. Capnerhurst in an earlier conversation to bring a gym bag to the home. (R. p. 2214)
- g- The ammo box to the .9mm was placed in the gym bag by Appellant after the dual murders to underscore his theory of self defense. (R. p. 2217)
- h- The existence of gunshot residue on Mr. Capnerhurst's hands was consistent with his being on the receiving end of being fired upon (R. p. 2228)
- i- The motive for the killing of Tammy Parker was to obtain insurance proceeds to pay off Appellant's gambling debts; (R. pp. 2196 and 2200).
- j- Appellant could not afford a divorce as Tammy made more money than he; (R. p. 2196);
- k- Tammy had threatened to leave Appellant if he continued his own gambling.

(R. p. 2822);

l- Video evidence shows downstairs blinds opening and closing before Mr.

Capnerhurst arrived, and some gunshot residue was found on those blinds;

m- The Parkers were nearly \$1 million in debt, including nearly \$200,000 in gambling related debt that Tammy did not know about;

n- Brett stood to receive nearly \$1.1 million dollars in proceeds from insurance and retirement accounts due to Tammy's death.

The trial court was thus not confronted with the existence or non-existence of substantial circumstantial evidence; Appellant cannot now argue with the court's denial of a directed verdict at either of the two different stages at which a directed verdict was sought notwithstanding trial counsel's obligation to make those motions. (R. pp. 2572, 2965). What defense counsel argued at these stages instead was for a return to the proper charging context and for a properly structured instruction which would guide the jurors' decision when evaluating the deductive nature of circumstantial evidence.

B. The supreme court has never been able to divorce itself, unalterably and irrevocably, from its traditional *Edwards* contextual language or import

Edwards, based on the supreme court's holding in *State v. Littlejohn*, 228 S.C. 324, 89 S.E.2d 924 (1955), was the tradition for decades in this state's case law. *Edwards* incorporated language from *Littlejohn* noting that to the extent circumstantial evidence is considered by a jury guilt must be then be proven "...to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis." See also *State v. Harry*, 321 S.C. 273, 468 S.E.2d 76 (Ct. App.

1996)(finding no error in circumstantial evidence charge nearly identical to that given in *Edwards*), *cert. denied* Aug. 22, 1996.

It was this specific *Edwards-Littlejohn* phrasing, however, that was later denoted by the court's seminal decision in *State v. Grippon*, 327 S.C. 79, 489 S.E.2d 462 (1997) to possibly translate as a burden shifting requirement. Relying on *Holland v. United States*, 348 U.S. 121, 75 S.Ct. 127, 99 L.Ed. 150 (1954), a 3-2 majority of the court held "if a proper reasonable doubt instruction is given, a jury need not be instructed that circumstantial evidence must be so strong as to exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than guilt." *Grippon*, 327 S.C. at 83, 489 S.E.2d at 464. As a result, the *Grippon* court ruled that the phrasing "to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis" was no longer required for jury instructions when charging circumstantial evidence. The *Grippon* court determined that once a trial court provided a proper reasonable doubt instruction, the jury need not be instructed regarding whether the circumstantial evidence introduced at trial proved the defendant's guilt to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis. *Grippon*, 327 S.C. at 83-84, 489 S.E.2d at 464.

Over a compelling dissent noting that circumstantial evidence proof requires careful reasoning by the triers of fact to avoid reaching unwarranted conclusions and noting a rush to join the ill-considered state and federal bandwagon forming behind *Holland*, the majority in *Grippon* recommended what it denoted as a "better rule" through the following charge:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial-direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual

knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence. Nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all the evidence in the case. After weighing all the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find [the defendant] not guilty.

327 S.C. at 83-84, 489 S.E.2d at 464.

However, the significance of *Edwards* in guiding jurors through evaluation of circumstantial evidence has continued to significantly erode *Grippon* in several subsequent cases over the intervening seventeen years. In truth the totality of the *Edwards* insistence on a recognition of the distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence, with the inherently different requirement of the deductive demand of circumstantial evidence by a jury, has never changed. Nor should it.

1. The attempt to clarify *Grippon* resulted in the acknowledged unevenness of *Cherry I* and *Cherry II*

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