ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Richland County
Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-001238**

RECEIVED

JUN 02 2016

THE STATE,

Respondent Court of Appeals

vs.

BRETT D. PARKER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**DANIEL EDWARD JOHNSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit
1701 Main Street, Third Floor
Columbia, SC 29201

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

The trial judge thereafter gave the following circumstantial evidence charge:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, there are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial: Direct evidence and circumstantial evidence.

Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. It is evidence which immediately establishes the main fact to be proved.

Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. It is evidence which immediately establishes collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred. Circumstantial evidence is based on inference and not on personal knowledge or observation.

The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all of the evidence in the case.

After weighing all of the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the Defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the Defendant not guilty.

R. p. 3153, l. 10 – p. 3154, l. 9.

Parker took exception to the failure to charge *Edwards*. **R. p. 3171, ll. 13-25.** He renewed his exception in a post-trial motion. The trial judge denied his motion because she found that *Cherry* had overruled *Edwards* and that her charge, as given, accurately stated the law. **R. p.**

3183, l. 9 – p. 3184, l. 5.

B. Discussion.

Initially, Respondent submits that much of what Parker argues before this Court is not properly before it on appeal because he failed to present the same arguments to the trial judge.¹⁸ *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (a party cannot argue one ground at trial and then an alternative ground on appeal); *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (an objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court”). Thus, he is confined to asserting those arguments that he actually presented to the trial judge. *Id.*

Further, the trial judge’s refusal to give the requested charge was not reversible error. In reviewing jury charges for error, an appellate court considers the trial judge’s jury charge as a

¹⁸ For instance, he did not argue in the trial court that “the totality of the *Edwards* insistence on a recognition of the distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence, with the inherently different requirement of the deductive demand of circumstantial evidence by a jury, has never changed.” Likewise, he did not argue at trial that “[t]here exists post-*Cherry II* a continued uncertainty as to the correct, unified and mandated instruction to be given where circumstantial evidence is to be charged in a criminal case. This uncertainty emanated ... from the distinctive, inherent qualities of each type of evidence (direct versus circumstantial) which in turn requires a different evaluation of circumstantial evidence by a jury that only a guided instruction could provide.” Rather, he conceded that law had changed and that the trial judge’s charge was the current law to be instructed, but he still wanted the requested charge given.

Nor did he argue at trial that “[t]he more significant the amount of circumstantial evidence introduced in trial the greater the necessity for [a reasonable hypothesis instruction].” Finally, he did not argue that the trial judge erred by sustaining the State’s objection to his efforts to argue the reasonable hypothesis language in closing argument. See **R. p. 3073, ll. 11-16**. As a result, these arguments are not preserved for appellate review. *Id.* See also *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal”). If this Court addresses these arguments on appeal, Parker would effectively be allowed to end-run the contemporaneous objection requirement. *Contra State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 64, 406 S.E.2d 315, 326 (1991) (Toal, J., concurring in result) (“a contemporaneous objection requirement to preserve legal errors operates to procedurally preclude a defendant from allowing error to occur at trial and then complaining of it on appeal”); *State v. Mayfield*, 235 S.C. 11, 23-24, 109 S.E.2d 716, 724 (1959) (“One may not take his chance of a favorable verdict and, after an unfavorable one, raise an objection that should have been made before the verdict was rendered”).

whole and in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. “A jury charge is correct if when read as a whole, the charge adequately covers the law.” *State v. Drayton*, 769 S.E.2d 254, 260, 2015 WL 446693, *6 (S.C. Ct.App., Feb., 4, 2015). “A jury charge that is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Brandt*, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011)). Further, a trial judge generally “is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” *State v. Jenkins*, 408 S.C. 560, 569, 759 S.E.2d 759, 764 (Ct.App. 2014), *cert. denied*, Feb 4, 2015.

In *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 601-602, 606 S.E.2d 475, 482 (2004), the Supreme Court held that the traditional circumstantial evidence charge served to confuse juries by leading them to erroneously believe that the standard for measuring circumstantial evidence is different than that for measuring direct evidence. As a result, the Court held “that the recommended language in *Grippon* is the sole and exclusive charge to be given in circumstantial evidence cases in this state, along with a proper reasonable doubt instruction.” The Court in *Cherry* also expressly eliminated the confusing “reasonable hypothesis” language found in the *Edwards* instruction, and which Parker adamantly requested. *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 601, 606 S.E.2d at 482 (“[T]he reasonable hypothesis charge merely serves to confuse juries by leading them to believe that the standard for measuring circumstantial evidence is different than that for measuring direct evidence when, in fact, it is not”).

The Court again approved that charge in *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013). Indeed, the Court in *Logan* addressed the argument that Parker raises here, *i.e.* that their recent cases referencing the *Edwards* charge signaled disapproval of the *Grippon* charge. In rejecting that argument, the Court found that its recent cases referencing the *Edwards* language did not address the jury instructions given. Rather, those cases – including *Hernandez*, and *State*

v. *Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011) - the cases upon which Parker relies - as well as *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), had only made reference to the *Edwards* language in the context of the trial judge's ruling on a directed verdict motion.

In short, none of these recent Supreme Court cases citing the *Edwards* language addressed the *Grippon* jury charge at all. *Logan*, 405 S.C. at 91-94 & n. 7, 747 S.E.2d at 448-49 & n. 7. Thus, the cases cited by Parker did not announce a retreat from the *Grippon* charge.¹⁹ Also, relevant precedent at the time of trial dictated that only the *Grippon* charge be used. *Cherry*, *supra*. That charge does not include the "reasonable hypothesis language" requested here. (See **Request to Charge No. 1, R. p. 7**). The "reasonable hypothesis language" charge from *Edwards* was specifically rejected in *Cherry* and the Supreme Court had directed that the charge no longer be used. *Id.* Indeed, consistent with *Holland v. United States*, 348 U.S. 121 (1954), the Court in *Cherry* found that the "reasonable hypothesis" instruction merely served to confuse juries.²⁰ *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 601-602, 606 S.E.2d at 482. See also *Grippon*, 327 S.C. at

¹⁹ Instead, both *Hernandez* and *Odems* addressed the presence or absence of sufficient evidence to send the case to the jury, not the sufficiency or clarity of a charge to the jury. See *Logan*, 405 S.C. at 91-94 & n. 7, 747 S.E.2d at 448-49 & n. 7. See also *State v. Hernandez*, 382 S.C. at 625 n.2, 677 S.E.2d at 605-606 n.2 ("Although in [*Cherry* ...] the Court abandoned this charge and held that it may confuse the jury by leading it to believe that the standard for measuring circumstantial evidence is different from that for measuring direct evidence, it nonetheless *illustrates the lack of evidence* against Petitioners") (emphasis added); *Odems*, 395 S.C. at 590, 720 S.E.2d at 52 ("Despite the Court's abandonment of the use of this particular definition as a jury charge in *State v. Cherry*, the definition *illustrates the lack of evidence* against Petitioner") (emphasis added).

The evaluation of evidence for a directed verdict motion is not the same as the jury's evaluation of evidence in determining whether the State had met its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The "**trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.**" *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (emphasis in original). See also *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 453 (1984) ("The jury weighs the evidence but when there is an absence of evidence, it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict and a corresponding duty is imposed on this Court."). Critically, there is no mention in either *Hernandez* or *Odems* of the adequacy of the *Grippon* instruction. Thus, like the challenge in *Logan*, Parker's argument fails for the same reasons.

²⁰ In *Holland v. United States*, the United States Supreme Court, when considering a complaint that the trial judge failed to charge when "the Government's evidence is circumstantial it must be such as to exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than that of guilt," acknowledged that some jurisdictions allowed the charge, but concluded that "the better rule is that where the jury is properly instructed on the standards for reasonable doubt, such an additional

85, 489 S.E.2d at 465 (Toal, J., concurring) (“Relying on *Holland*..., the federal courts and a majority of state courts have abandoned the ‘reasonable hypothesis’ language in favor of an approach that does not differentiate between direct and circumstantial evidence, but simply provides that a defendant's guilt must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt”); *State v. Manning*, 305 S.C. 413, 417, 409 S.E.2d 372, 374 (1991) (“In deviating from the *Edwards* charge, the charge given in this case turns the State's burden of proof on its head by requiring the jury find a ‘reasonable explanation’ of the evidence inconsistent with appellant's guilt before it can find him not guilty”).

While the Court in *Logan* did state that trial courts may not exclusively rely on [the *Grippon*] charge over a defendant's objection,” *Logan*, 405 S.C. at 100, 747 S.E.2d at 453, the Court in *Logan* reaffirmed both the correctness of the *Grippon* charge and the impropriety of the “reasonable hypothesis” language in rejecting the claim that *Cherry* had been implicitly overruled. *Id.* at 94, 747 S.E.2d at 449 (“the trial court did not err in providing a circumstantial evidence charge consistent with *Grippon*”). This language remains disapproved. *Id.* at 98, 747 S.E.2d at 451-52 (“requiring a jury to inquire as to whether there is any other reasonable explanation other than the defendant’s guilt comes perilously close to shifting the burden of proof from the State to the defendant”). *See also Jenkins*, 408 S.C. at 572-73, 759 S.E.2d at 766; *Drayton*, 2015 WL 446693 at *6. Parker did not want an instruction such as that set forth in *Logan*.²¹ Rather, he wanted the trial judge to instruct jurors on the “reasonable hypothesis”

instruction on circumstantial evidence is confusing and incorrect.” 348 U.S. at 139-140. Given the United States Supreme Court disapproval of the language, any possible constitutional argument, if ever made, would find no support. *See also Logan*, 405 S.C. at 100-01, 747 S.E.2d at 453 (Kittredge, J., concurring in result).

²¹ In *Logan*, the Court stated that the following alternative charge may be given upon counsel’s request:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial – direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence directly proves the existence of a fact and does not

language of *Edwards*. Therefore, the requested charge was properly rejected because it did not and still does not accurately state the applicable law.

Nor is there merit to Parker's claim that "[t]he more significant the amount of circumstantial evidence, the greater the need for a *Logan* charge" and, as a result, this Court's Opinion in *Jenkins* is inapposite. The suggestion that there is a greater need for a *Logan* charge here because of the amount of circumstantial evidence presented is inconsistent with both *Logan* and *Cherry*. See *Logan*, 405 S.C. at 99, 747 S.E.2d at 452 (proposed charge stating that "The law makes no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence"); *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 601, 606 S.E.2d at 482 ("[T]he reasonable hypothesis charge merely serves to confuse juries by leading them to believe that the standard for measuring circumstantial evidence is different than that for measuring direct evidence when, in fact, it is not"). Also, the State would note that *Drayton* was almost entirely a circumstantial evidence case. See *Drayton*, 2015 WL446693 at *1-*5.

Finally, Respondent notes that the Court in *Logan* recognized that "erroneous jury instructions are subject to a harmless error analysis," and it found that any error in the failure to give the requested circumstantial evidence instruction was harmless because "[t]he trial court's

require deduction. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact.

Crimes may be proven by circumstantial evidence. The law makes no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, however, to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, all the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. If these circumstances merely portray the defendant's behavior as suspicious, the proof has failed.

The State has the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden rests with the State regardless of whether the State relies on direct evidence, circumstantial evidence, or some combination of the two.

Logan, 405 S.C. at 99, 747 S.E.2d at 452.

jury instruction, as a whole, properly conveyed the applicable law” in light of the instruction on “reasonable doubt burden of proof.” *Logan*, 405 S.C. at 94, 747 S.E.2d at 449. In both *Jenkins* and *Drayton*, this Court likewise concluded that the failure to give an instruction such as that requested by Parker “was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the trial court’s instruction, as a whole, properly conveyed the applicable law,” in light of the trial judge’s correct “reasonable doubt” charge. *Jenkins*, 408 S.C. at 573-74, 759 S.E.2d at 766; *see also Drayton*, 2015 WL 446693 at *7.

Here, the trial judge gave the same reasonable doubt instruction (**R. p. 3156, l. 13 – p. 3157, l. 5**) as the trial court in *Logan*. The charge in question is taken almost *verbatim* from that endorsed by the Federal Judicial Center, *see* Federal Judicial Center, Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions 17-18 (1987) (Instruction 21); and it has been approved by the Court’s decision in *State v. Darby*, 324 S.C. 114, 115-16, 477 S.E.2d 710, 710-11 (1996), and in Justice Ginsburg’s concurring opinion in *Victor v. Nebraska*, 511 U.S. 1, 26-27(1994) (Ginsburg, J., concurring in part and in judgment) (“This model instruction surpasses others I have seen in stating the reasonable doubt standard succinctly and comprehensibly”). As a result, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

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